ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Dorchester County

Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

DEC 18 2013

SC COURT OF APPEALS

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MELVIN HAYNES,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000438

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The Trial Court erred in refusing to quash the jury panel pursuant to Appellant's Batson motion where (1) the State's strikes resulted in a jury consisting of eleven white jurors and only one black juror in a case where the Appellant is a black male; and (2) the State struck a black female juror because she worked at a home for seniors, took care of elderly patients, and had medical knowledge but yet seated a white female cardiac nurse who also took care of elderly patients and had medical knowledge.
- II. Appellant is entitled to immunity from prosecution for assault and battery with intent to kill under the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the Act provides immunity to a person who uses deadly force under the belief that an unlawful and forcible act is occurring. Here, Appellant believed that the unlawful and forcible act of some person stealing his truck was occurring when he fired his shotgun.
- III. The Trial Court erred in refusing to charge the jury on the law of accident where there was evidence presented at trial that Appellant only meant to shoot at the truck being hooked up to Appellant's vehicle to tow it away and that Appellant did not see anyone inside the truck when he shot at it.
- IV. The Trial Court erred in refusing to charge the jury on the law of mistake of fact where there was evidence presented at trial that Appellant did not realize anyone was inside the truck when he shot at it.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 7, 2009, Appellant Melvin Haynes was indicted by the Dorchester County Grand Jury for one count of assault and battery with intent to kill (“ABWIK”) upon James Johnny Platt Davis under the former South Carolina code section 16-3-620. R.*.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson and a jury on December 6-9, 2011. Tr. 1. Appellant was represented by James H. Messervy, Sr., and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitors Glenn P. Justis and Matt Austin. Id.

On December 9, 2011, the jury found Appellant guilty of ABWIK. Tr. 399, ll. 1-5. Judge Dickson sentenced Appellant to twenty years. Tr. 406, ll. 20-22.

Appellant moved the Trial Court to reconsider the twenty-year sentence, and a hearing was held on April 5, 2012. Tr. 407 - 431. On February 13, 2013, Judge Dickson reduced Appellant’s sentence to fifteen years. R.* [Order from Motion for Reconsideration].

Appellant timely filed and served his Notice of Appeal on February 19, 2013.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On the afternoon of June 28, 2009, Appellant had taken a shower and laid down on his bed in his home to take a nap. Tr. 281, ll. 2-8. He awoke after he heard a noise outside of his house, so he got up from his bed and looked out his back door. Tr. 282, ll. 15-20. Appellant saw a truck that he did not recognize. Tr. 282, ll. 20-21. When he opened the door, Appellant saw that the truck he did not recognize was being hooked up to his own truck. Tr. 283, ll. 10-15. Appellant thought someone was stealing his truck. Tr. 287, ll. 5-6.

Appellant kept a twelve gauge shotgun that he used mainly for shooting squirrels by his back door. Tr. 283, l. 25 – 284, l. 19. Appellant picked up the shotgun and shot once at the truck being hooked up to his own truck. Tr. 287, ll. 10-12. The windows were rolled up and blacked out in the truck he did not recognize. Tr. 286, ll. 10-13; 287, ll. 7-8. Therefore, Appellant did not see anyone inside the truck when he shot at it. Appellant was also not wearing his prescription glasses at the time. Tr. 288, ll. 4-10. In addition, the sun was in his eyes. Appellant repeatedly testified that he did not see anyone when he shot at the truck. Tr. 288, ll. 6-25.

After the truck drove off with Appellant's truck in tow, Appellant went back inside his home and called his brother. He informed his brother that someone had stolen his truck and that he had shot at the unidentified truck hooked up to his vehicle. Appellant told his brother that he needed to tell the police about the incident. Tr. 290, ll. 2-8.

Appellant's brother drove him to the police station. Tr. 290, l. 9 – 291, l. 5. Appellant spoke with Detective Steve Morelli of the Dorchester County Sheriff's Office. Tr. 212, l. 6 – 213, l. 7. He was familiar with Detective Morelli because his home had been

broken into twice before and he had spoken with Detective Morelli about those prior break-ins where Appellant's property was stolen. Tr. 292, l. 4 – 293, l. 4.

Detective Morelli testified that Appellant told him he was lying in bed and heard a noise in his backyard. According to Detective Morelli, Appellant told him there were "some people in his backyard" and Appellant went to the back door with a shotgun and "shot at the truck to scare them." Tr. 215, ll. 1 – 6.

Appellant told Detective Morelli that he only shot at the truck. Detective Morelli testified that Appellant was surprised to learn that he had actually shot the driver. Tr. 215, ll. 7-12. It turned out that Appellant had shot Johnny Davis who was working as a repo man. Tr. 142, l. 7 – 143, l. 6. In June 2009, Davis received an order from Carolina Car Credit to repossess Appellant's truck. Tr. 144, ll. 8-16. When Davis backed down Appellant's driveway to hook up Appellant's truck, he observed Appellant coming out of Appellant's home. Tr. 145, ll. 21-25. Davis' brother, Robert Davis, was with him at the time. Tr. 146, ll. 10-13.

Davis believed that while he was maneuvering his truck to get it hooked up to Appellant's truck, Robert had actually gotten out of the truck to verify that Appellant's truck was the correct vehicle to be repossessed. Davis himself never got out of his vehicle. Tr. 147, ll. 2 – 22; 163, ll. 20-21.

As he was backing up to Appellant's truck, Davis heard a noise. He thought he might have backed into Appellant's truck and then he heard his brother hollering, "he's shooting." At trial, the brother testified that they yelled to Appellant that they would drop Appellant's truck, but Appellant fired his shotgun again. Davis' brother Robert jumped into the front seat, and Davis looked over his shoulder in the mirror and saw Appellant standing

in his doorway holding a gun. Tr. 147, l. 23 – 149, l. 6; 186, ll. 18-24. Robert testified that the windows of Davis' truck were rolled up. Tr. 194, ll. 8-23.

After his truck was shot at by Appellant, Davis drove out of the driveway, and after he drove off, he noticed that he had been shot with birdshot. Tr. 150, ll. 3-10; 152, ll. 21-23; 156, ll. 6-11; 186, ll. 20-24; 216, ll. 9-12. Davis was treated for his injury and released the same day from the hospital. Tr. 156, l. 12 – 157, l. 3.

Paul David Lee, the branch manager of Carolina Car Credit, testified at trial. Tr. 98, l. 10- 99, l. 1. Lee worked on an account belonging to Appellant. Tr. 102, ll. 15-18.

On April 22, 2009, his company sent a default letter to Appellant, noting that the account was past due for \$1,587.08. Tr. 109, l. 24 – 110, l. 16. The default letter was sent via certified mail to Appellant at his Ridgeville, South Carolina address, but it was returned as undeliverable. Tr. 129, ll. 5 – 20; 134, ll. 14-16; R.* [Defendant's Ex. 1]. Lee testified that the letter was also sent via regular mail to a Texas address for Appellant and that letter was not returned. Tr. 129, ll. 16-20; 134, ll. 17-19; 135, ll. 8-9.

After Carolina Car Credit sent the default letter to Appellant, Lee testified that Appellant did send in two payments in June 2009 but that a past due amount still remained on the loan. Tr. 114, l. 16 – 115, l. 1.

Lee said that sometime between April and June 2009, he left a voice message for Appellant, informing Appellant that he received the package Appellant mailed to him and that he had a "deal of a lifetime" for Appellant. Tr. 115, l. 5 – 116, l. 12.

Lee testified that Appellant never became current on his account and at some point the company decided to repossess the vehicle. Tr. 117, ll. 5 – 21. The company decided to use Johnny Davis to repossess Appellant's vehicle. Tr. 117, l. 22 – 118, l. 5.

Appellant testified that he never received any repossession notice from Carolina Car Credit and had no idea that his truck was going to be repossessed. Tr. 294, l. 1 – 297, l. 2. Appellant had spoken with Lee of Carolina Car Credit shortly before the shooting, and Lee told Appellant to send in two payments. Appellant sent Lee two payments in June 2009. Appellant said he received Lee's voice message to him informing Appellant that Lee had received Appellant's package and that Lee had a "deal of a lifetime" for Appellant, consistent with Lee's testimony. Appellant thought at that point everything was in the clear. Tr. 294, l. 14 – 295, l. 22. Therefore, on June 28, 2009, when Davis came to Appellant's home to repossess Appellant's truck, Appellant had no idea that a repossession of his vehicle was imminent.

ARGUMENT

I. The Trial Court erred in refusing to quash the jury panel pursuant to Appellant's Batson motion where (1) the State's strikes resulted in a jury consisting of eleven white jurors and only one black juror in a case where the Appellant is a black male; and (2) the State struck a black female juror because she worked at a home for seniors, took care of elderly patients, and had medical knowledge but yet seated a white female cardiac nurse who also took care of elderly patients and had medical knowledge.

During jury selection, the State struck three black jurors and three white jurors from a forty-six member jury pool, only eight of whom were black. Tr. 38, l. 1 – 41, l. 24; R* [Jury Strike Sheet]. The jury selected consisted of eleven white jurors and one black juror, with three white alternate jurors. R.* [Jury Strike Sheet.] Appellant is a black male.

Defense counsel for Appellant asked the judge to require the solicitor to explain the nature of his reasons for striking the black jurors. Tr. 41, ll. 23-24. As to Juror 81, a black female, the solicitor stated it struck this juror because she said "she worked for . . . a home for seniors and that she takes care of the elderly and everything." The State believed juror number 81 would be sympathetic to an older defendant who was disabled. Tr. 42, l. 24 – 43, l. 4. The State also struck this juror because "she would know about medicines" and there would be medical testimony during the trial. Tr. 43, ll. 5-7.

In response, Appellant pointed out to the Trial Court that the State had seated a white female who was a cardiac nurse. Appellant argued that this white cardiac nurse would, like Juror 81, would have knowledge about medical issues and the elderly. Therefore, Appellant argued that the State's reason for striking Juror 81 was pretextual. Tr. 43, l. 18 – 45, l. 2.

The Trial Court ruled that the State provided a race-neutral explanation for striking Juror 81 and denied Appellant's motion pursuant to Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79

(1986). Tr. 46, ll. 4-8. The Trial Court's ruling was in error where Appellant established that the State's proffered racially neutral reason for striking Juror 81 was pretextual when the State did not strike a white female with the same characteristics and the selected jury consisted of only one black member.

A criminal defendant has the right to a fair trial by an impartial jury under the federal and state constitutions. *See* U.S. Const. Amend. VI; *see also* S.C. Const. art. I, § 14; State v. Salters, 273 S.C. 501, 257 S.E.2d 502 (1979). This guarantee includes the right to a selection process that is unbiased and fair to the defendant and the jurors. *See* Powers v. Ohio, 499 U.S. 400, 410-16 (1991). The United States Supreme Court has held that the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits the prosecution from striking potential jurors on the basis of race. Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) Consequently, a trial court must hold a Batson hearing when members of a cognizable racial group are struck and the opposing party requests a Batson hearing. *See* State v. Haigler, 334 S.C. 623, 629, 515 S.E.2d 88, 90 (1999).

"Batson and its progeny "protect the defendant's right to a fair trial by a jury of the defendant's peers, protect each venire person's right not to be excluded from jury service for discriminatory reasons, and preserve public confidence in the fairness of our system of justice by seeking to eradicate discrimination in the jury selection process." State v. Rayfield, 369 S.C. 106, 112, 631 S.E.2d 244, 247 (2006). Therefore, "[t]he Constitution forbids striking even a single prospective juror for a discriminatory purpose." Snyder v. Louisiana, 552 U.S. 472 (2008).

Furthermore, "[w]hether a Batson violation has occurred must be determined by examining the totality of the facts and circumstances in the record." State v. Edwards,

384 S.C. 504, 509, 682 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2009). The trial court's finding of purposeful discrimination rests on its evaluation of demeanor and credibility. Id. at 509, 682 S.E.2d at 823. "Often the demeanor of the challenged attorney will be the best and only evidence of discrimination, and an 'evaluation of the [attorney's] mind lies peculiarly within a trial [court's] province.'" Id. (quoting Hernandez v. New York, 500 U.S. 352, 365 (1991)). This court will give the trial court's finding great deference on appeal and review the trial court's ruling under the "clearly erroneous" standard. Id., 384 S.C. at 509, 682 S.E.2d at 822.

In Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765, 767 (1995), the United States Supreme Court set forth the procedures for a trial court to follow when a party challenges a peremptory strike. The South Carolina Supreme Court adopted that procedure in State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 124, 470 S.E.2d 366, 372 (1996). Specifically, Batson challenges follow a three step process: (1) the opponent of the strike requests a hearing and asserts a *prima facie* case of racial or gender discrimination; (2) the proponent of the strike must offer a race or gender neutral explanation; and then (3) the opponent must show the race or gender neutral explanation was mere pretext. See State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 314, 631 S.E.2d 294, 298 (Ct. App. 2006).

The "second step of this process does not demand an explanation that is persuasive, or even plausible." Purkett, 514 U.S. at 767-68. The South Carolina Supreme Court recognized that the proponent of the strike does not carry "any burden of presenting reasonably specific, legitimate explanations for the strikes. Adams, 322 S.C. at 123, 470 S.E.2d at 371; see Purkett, 514 U.S. at 768 (finding unless discriminatory intent is inherent in the explanation, it is deemed race neutral at step two).

During the third step, the moving party “must show the reason offered, though facially race-neutral, was actually mere pretext to engage in purposeful racial discrimination.” Cochran, 369 S.C. at 315, 631 S.E.2d at 298 (citing Adams, 322 S.C. at 124, 470 S.E.2d at 372). “This burden is generally established by showing similarly situated members of another race were seated on the jury.” Id. “Unless the discriminatory intent is inherent in a fundamentally implausible explanation, the opponent of the strike must make a bona fide showing that the proponent of the strike seated a juror who shared nearly every quality with the struck juror other than race to establish pretext.” Id.

For the purpose of demonstrating potential jurors are similarly situated under Batson, potential jurors are not required to be “identical in all respects.” Miller–El v. Dretke, 545 U.S. 231, 247 n. 6 (2005) (“A per se rule that a defendant cannot win a Batson claim unless there is an exactly identical white juror would leave Batson inoperable; potential jurors are not products of a set of cookie cutters.”). Rather, the potential jurors need only be alike “in all relevant aspects.” Startzell v. City of Philadelphia, 533 F.3d 183, 203 (3d Cir. 2008) (quoting Nordlinger v. Hahn, 505 U.S. 1, 10 (1992)). Therefore, in determining whether potential jurors are similarly situated, this State’s appellate courts have focused their inquiry on whether there are meaningful distinctions between the individuals compared. See State v. McCray, 332 S.C. 536, 540–41, 506 S.E.2d 301, 302–03 (1998).

Accordingly, if the trial judge determines the race and gender neutral explanations were mere pretext, then the trial court must quash the jury panel and select a new jury. Cochran, 369 S.C. at 315, 631 S.E.2d at 298; see Riddle v. State, 314 S.C. 1, 14, 443 S.E.2d 557, 565 (1994) (finding courts will examine the totality of the facts and circumstances in the record to determine if a Batson violation has occurred); see also State v. Johnson, 302

S.C. 243, 395 S.E.2d 167 (1990) (finding the composition of the jury panel is also a factor that may be considered when determining whether a party engaged in purposeful discrimination).

In this case, the totality of the facts and circumstances surrounding the selection of the jury demonstrates that a Batson violation occurred and that the jury panel should have been quashed. See generally State v. Edwards, 384 S.C. 504, 509, 682 S.E.2d 820, 822 (2009) (finding "[w]hether a Batson violation has occurred must be determined by examining the totality of the facts and circumstances in the record").

First, the State's jury strikes resulted in a jury which consisted of only one black juror. "The composition of the jury panel is a factor that may be considered when determining whether a party engaged in purposeful discrimination pursuant to a Batson challenge." State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 315, 631 S.E.2d 294, 298 (Ct. App. 2006) (quoting State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 621, 545 S.E.2d 805, 813 (2001)). The resulting composition of the jury therefore indicates that the State may have engaged in purposeful racial discrimination.

Second, the State's racially neutral reason for striking Juror 81, a black female, was pretext because it was not applied in a neutral manner. The State professed that it was striking this black female because she worked at a home for seniors, took care of the elderly and would be sympathetic to an elderly defendant, and had medical knowledge in a case that would involve some medical testimony. Tr. 42, l. 24 – 43, l. 7. However, the solicitor negated his racially neutral reason for striking Juror 81 when he seated a white female juror who was a cardiac nurse who also worked with elderly patients and had medical knowledge. Tr. 43, l. 18 – 45, l. 1; 45, l. 25 – 46, l. 3. No meaningful

distinction was shown given the solicitor's stated reasons.

The solicitor's originally neutral reasons were therefore proven by Appellant to be a pretext because those reasons were not applied to jurors of a different race than Juror 81. See State v. Adams, 307 S.C. 368, 415 S.E.2d 402 (1992) (holding that State's reason for striking a black male from the jury – that the docket clerk had placed several question marks by the juror's name – was pretextual where a white juror with question marks by his name was not struck by the State); State v. Grate, 310 S.C. 240, 242-43, 423 S.E.2d 119, 120 (1992) (holding State did not provide racially neutral reason for striking two black venirepersons, twenty-two and twenty-eight years of age, because they appeared to be too young in age where the State seated a twenty-one year old white juror); State v. Oglesby, 298 S.C. 279, 379 S.E.2d 891 (1989) (holding State's racially neutral reason for striking black jurors from trial of black defendant was proven to be pretext where State struck three black females because they were patients of a doctor who was a defense witness, yet did not strike a white female with the same characteristic).

The Trial Court therefore erred in denying Appellant's Batson motion. Appellant's conviction should be reversed and the case remanded for a new trial.

II. Appellant is entitled to immunity from prosecution for assault and battery with intent to kill under the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the Act provides immunity to a person who uses deadly force under the belief that an unlawful and forcible act is occurring. Here, Appellant believed that the unlawful and forcible act of some person stealing his truck was occurring when he fired his shotgun.

Prior to trial, Appellant moved for immunity from prosecution under the Protection of Persons and Property Act (the "Act"), S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-11-410 et al. Tr. 60, l. 14 – 63, l. 2. The Act provides that "[a] person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person: . . . (2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or *unlawful and forcible act* is occurring or has occurred." § 16-11-440(A)(2) (emphasis added).

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