ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

MAY 28 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal From Dorchester County  
The Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge  
Appellate Case No. 2013-000438

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

MELVIN HAYNES,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DEBORAH R.J. SHUPE  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
SC Bar No. 5098

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

DAVID PASCOE  
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit  
PO Box 1525  
Orangeburg, SC 29116

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal From Dorchester County

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The circuit court properly determined the State's reasons for striking each juror were race neutral.**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his challenge under Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), to the State's jury strikes as improperly based on race. Specifically, he asserts he established the State's proffered racially neutral reason for striking the black juror who worked in a home for seniors was pretextual because the State did not strike the white juror who was a cardiac nurse, and the selected jury only had one black juror. While Appellant correctly recites the case law regarding Batson issues, his application of those principles to this case is conclusory at best.

When a party challenges the opposing party's peremptory jury strikes as improper under Batson and its progeny, the circuit court must adhere to the three step procedure established in Purkett v. Elem, 514 U.S. 765 (1995), and adopted in State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 470 S.E.2d 366 (1996). State v. Cochran, 369 S.C. 308, 631 S.E.2d 294, 297-98 (2006). If the circuit court follows that procedure, when reviewing the granting or denial of the Batson motion, the appellate courts give deference to the circuit court's findings, and apply a clearly erroneous standard of review. *Id.* at 297; *see also* State v. Scott, 406 S.C. 108, 749 S.E.2d 160, 163 (Ct. App, 2013) (same); State v. Rogers, 405 S.C. 520, 748 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2013) (same). In this case, it is undisputed the circuit court followed the proper procedure in addressing Appellant's Batson challenge, and therefore, this Court must use the clearly erroneous standard of review.

Under the three part procedure mandated by Purkett and Adams, the opponent of a peremptory strike must make out a prima facie case of discrimination on an improper basis, i.e., race or gender. The burden then shifts to the proponent of the strike to present

a non-discriminatory neutral explanation, which need not be specific, persuasive, or even plausible. Cochran, 631 S.E.2d at 298; Scott, 749 S.E.2d at 163-164; Rogers, 748 S.E.2d at 250-251. Whether a proffered reason is facially neutral must be determined by examining the totality of the facts and circumstances in the record, including the credibility and demeanor of the proponent of the strike. State v. McCray, 332 S.C. 536, 506 S.E.2d 301, 303 (1998).

If such an explanation is presented, the opponent of the strike must show the proffered reason, though facially neutral, was mere pretext to engage in purposeful discrimination, which may be established by showing another juror was seated who shared nearly every quality with the struck juror other than the discriminatory factor. Cochran, 631 S.E.2d at 298; Scott, 749 S.E.2d at 163-164; Rogers, 748 S.E.2d at 250-251. The court may also consider the jury panel composition when determining whether a party engaged in purposeful discrimination. State v. Shuler, 344 S.C. 604, 545 S.E.2d 805, 813 (2001).

Appellant argues the composition of the jury panel - eleven white jurors and one black juror - indicates “the State may have engaged in purposeful racial discrimination.” (Brief of Appellant, p. 11). As a threshold matter, there is no evidence, or even an allegation, the State in any way controlled the number of potential black jurors in the jury pool, or the order in which the jurors were called. Therefore, in the absence of evidence indicating deliberate discrimination, the State should not be penalized in its exercise of peremptory strikes simply because the final jury panel only included one black juror.

Further, Appellant’s argument ignores what happened prior to and after the jury strike at issue. The State struck a white male juror prior to striking the senior home employee, and thereafter struck a black male, a white female, and a black female

(alternate). (Random Strike Sheet, R. pp. 245-246). Appellant does not challenge the legitimacy of the State's strikes as to the other two black jurors, one before and one after the challenged strike. Given the fact Appellant concedes the other strikes were appropriate, he cannot argue a pattern of discrimination.

Appellant also argues he carried his burden of showing pretext in striking the senior home employee because the State seated the cardiac nurse. This argument ignores significant differences between the two jurors.

While compared jurors do not have to be "identical" in order to show pretext, they must at least be "similarly situated." Employment distinctions may be sufficient to show the stated reason for striking a particular juror was not pretextual. *See Cochran*, 631 S.E.2d at 300 (employment status is a neutral reason for using a peremptory strike); *Scott*, 749 S.E.2d at 164 (there were sufficient distinctions between a teacher and a warehouse manager to defeat a *Batson* challenge, because even though a teaching position involves some supervisory and management skills, it is not a management or supervisory position in itself); *Rogers*, 748 S.E.2d at 251 (fact that defense counsel's strike was based on a stereotype of teaching profession was insufficient to establish the reason was pretextual) (*citing Cochran*).

Appellant acknowledges the State provided a race neutral explanation for striking the black female juror at issue: she worked at a home for seniors, took care of the elderly, would be more sympathetic to an elderly defendant, and had medical knowledge in a case involving some medical testimony. (Brief of Appellant, p. 11). He asserts the State then "negated [its] racially neutral reason for striking [the seniors home employee]" by seating the white female cardiac nurse, "who also worked with elderly patients and had medical knowledge." The fundamental flaw in Appellant's assertion is the lack of any evidence

regarding the extent of the cardiac nurse's work with elderly patients, as opposed to the black juror's employment in a home for seniors, specifically working and caring for elderly patients.

In fact, the transcript citations Appellant uses as support for his assertion of pretext are nothing more than defense counsel's conclusory statements regarding his belief that "if anybody knows anything about medical issues and medicines and old people, it's nurses, cardiac nurses," they "don't have a lot of twenty-two year olds, but they do have a lot of sixty-five year olds, and they "primarily deal with older people." As the solicitor stated in response, there is a significant difference between someone who specifically works at a home for the elderly, and a cardiac nurse who may not work directly with elderly people.<sup>2</sup> (TT, pp. 43-46; R., pp. 14-17).

While employment as a cardiac nurse may involve the care of elderly people, unlike employment in a home for seniors, the position itself is not directly, much less solely, related to the care of elderly people. Clearly, a person in a position related solely to the care of elderly people is more likely to be sympathetic toward an elderly defendant, particularly one with purported medical disabilities. As in Scott, this is a sufficient employment distinction between the two jurors, to constitute a legitimate and completely neutral basis for the State's peremptory strike.

There is ample support in the record for the circuit court's denial of Appellant's Batson motion. Appellant failed to establish pretext and purposeful discrimination in the face of the State's facially neutral explanation for its strike of the seniors' home

---

<sup>2</sup>The solicitor indicated the cardiac nurse was currently in graduate school. Therefore, she might not have been even working with cardiac patients at the time of this trial.

employee. Therefore, the circuit court's finding of no discriminatory purpose was not clearly erroneous, and that finding should be affirmed.

**II. The Protection of Persons and Property Act did not afford Appellant immunity from prosecution for firing a shotgun at people who were not threatening him with any level of force.**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his pre-trial request for immunity under the Protection of Persons and Property Act (the “Act”), S.C. Code §§16-11-410 through -450 (Supp. 2013). Specifically, he argues he was entitled to immunity under §16-11-440(A)(2) because he had reason to believe Davis was stealing his truck when he shot at Davis’ truck, and therefore, he was justified in using deadly force in the face of an “unlawful and forcible act.” Simply stated, this contention is just plain wrong.

Under certain circumstances, §16-11-440(A) of the Act provides a presumption of “a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death, or great bodily injury to [the person] or another person when using deadly force” likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person. (Emphasis added). “A person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of [the Act] or another applicable provision of law is justified in using deadly force and is immune from criminal prosecution and civil action for the use of deadly force.” S.C. Code §16-11-450 (Supp. 2013).

The immunity from prosecution afforded under §16-11-450 applies “*if* a person is found to be justified in using deadly force.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013) (emphasis in original).

Consistent with the Castle Doctrine and the text of the Act, a valid case of self-defense must exist, and the trial court must necessarily consider the elements of self-defense in determining a defendant’s entitlement to the Act’s immunity. This includes all the elements of self-defense, save the duty to retreat.

*Id.* (emphasis added). The well-established elements of self-defense are: 1) the defendant was at no fault in bringing on the difficulty; 2) an actual belief the defendant was in “imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he actually was

in such imminent danger;” 3) a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief, or the circumstances warranted a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his life; and 4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury. *Id.* at n. 4 (*citing State v. Davis*, 282 S.C. 45, 317 S.E.2d 452 [1984]). Only the fourth element, the duty to retreat, is excused under the Act. *Id.* The immunity afforded by the Act is “predicated on an accused demonstrating the elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence.” *Id.* at 267.

There is no evidence Davis or Robert threatened Appellant in any way, and Appellant admitted the tow truck was “pulling out” of his yard when he fired the shotgun at it. Appellant testified the men did not attempt to break into his house, and they were not “coming” at him. According to his own testimony, the only thing he believed was happening was someone stealing his truck. (TT, pp. 322-328; R., pp. 200-206).

Even if Appellant believed someone was stealing his truck, which is certainly disputed in this case, nothing in the Act, or self-defense case law, allows the use of deadly force to prevent the theft of personal property absent a threat of death or serious bodily injury during that theft. Therefore, as a matter of law, Appellant could not establish the second element of self-defense - a reasonable belief of, or actual, imminent death or serious bodily injury, and he was not entitled to immunity from prosecution under the Act. Accordingly, the circuit court properly denied Appellant’s motion for immunity under the Act, and the ruling should be affirmed.

**III. The circuit court properly refused to charge the law of accident and/or mistake of fact when there was absolutely no evidence Appellant accidentally or mistakenly fired a shotgun blast directly at the driver's side of a truck already moving away from Appellant, striking the truck's back window and the headrest of the driver's seat (Appellant's Issues III and IV).**

Appellant contends the circuit court erred in denying his requests for jury charges on accident and mistake of fact.<sup>3</sup> The sole basis for his argument is his testimony he only meant to shoot at the truck, and could not see if anyone was inside because the windows were heavily tinted. Appellant's own testimony, and the physical evidence, belie his assertion.

The law to be charged to the jury is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007). In reviewing jury charges for error, the appellate court must consider the jury charge as a whole in light of the evidence and issues presented at trial, and reverse only for abuse of discretion. Mattison, 697 S.E.2d at 583-584; *see also* State v. Brandt, 393 S.C. 526, 713 S.E.2d 591, 603 (2011).

The defense of accident applies when (1) the harm was unintentional; (2) the defendant was acting lawfully; and (3) due care was exercised in the handling of the weapon. State v. Williams, 400 S.C. 308, 733 S.E.2d 605, 610 (Ct. App. 2012). "If the circumstances of a case show a defendant was entitled to arm himself in self-defense when the gun went off, he would be entitled to a charge of accident supposing evidence satisfies the other elements of the doctrine." *Id.* (citing State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 513 S.E.2d 104 [1999]) (emphasis added).

---

<sup>3</sup>Appellant's written requests for charges were not entered in the circuit court record. Therefore, it cannot be determined whether the requested charges were substantively correct, but for purposes of argument, the State assumes they were correct.

A mistake of fact may negate the mental element of an offense and preclude conviction. State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63, 77 (1998). To apply in a general intent crime, the mistake of fact must be reasonable, and not due to the defendant's negligence or carelessness. *Id.* The trial court is not required to give an instruction on mistake of fact absent some evidence there was a reasonable basis for the purported mistake. *Id.*

Appellant's testimony established the following: 1) when he looked outside after hearing a noise, he saw a truck hooking up to his truck in the yard; 2) nobody was outside the truck; 3) he had never seen "these guys" before; 4) the truck started to pull off; 5) he could not see anybody outside the truck; 6) he loaded his shotgun, then aimed and shot at the truck as it was pulling off; and 7) he was very familiar with the shotgun he used, and had shot it many times. (TT, pp. 282-289, 317-325, 327-328; R., pp. 165-172, 195-203, 205-206). Including Appellant's testimony, the evidence presented at trial established the truck was already moving forward and away from Appellant when he aimed and fired the shotgun shot right at the back of the driver's head. (State's Exhibits 12, 13, 14, 15, 16, 20, and Defendant's Exhibit 4 (Photographs)).

Based on the undisputed evidence, Appellant was not entitled to jury charges on either accident or mistake of fact. As to accident, Appellant intended to stop whoever was driving the tow truck from taking his truck, he was not entitled to act in self-defense because he was never in danger of death or serious bodily injury, and he exercised no due care when firing a shotgun at the driver of a moving truck. Rather, he deliberately loaded a shotgun he had shot many times, aimed it at a truck moving away from him, and fired it directly at the driver's head. There was absolutely nothing accidental about it.

Similarly, the evidence did not support a jury charge on mistake of fact. Appellant's purported belief there was no one in the truck is contrary to the undisputed evidence, particularly Appellant's own testimony that he did not see anyone outside the truck, and the truck was moving forward when he aimed the shotgun at it and fired. At a minimum, Appellant was negligent and/or careless when he shot at the driver's side of a moving truck. Consequently, there was no evidence of a reasonable basis for a mistake of fact, and a jury charge on mistake of fact was not warranted.

In the absence of any evidence indicating Appellant's actions were either accidental or based on a reasonable mistake of fact, jury charges on those defenses were not warranted or appropriate. The circuit court properly denied Appellant's requests for the charges, and the ruling should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**


The record supports the circuit court's rulings on Appellant's Batson motion, his motion for immunity under the Act, and his requests for jury charges on accident and mistake of fact. Accordingly, Appellant's conviction should be affirmed.